Public Document Pack

Gareth Owens LL.B Barrister/Bargyfreithiwr
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd

To: Patricia Jones (Chair)

Councillors: David Cox, Hilary McGuill and
Arnold Woolley

Co-opted Members

Chris Bretherton-Watt, Robert Dewey, Jonathan
Duggan-Keen, Phillipa Ann Earlam and Edward
Michael Hughes

Dear Sir / Madam

Sir y Fflint
-Flintshire

COUNTY COUNCIL

CS/ING
22 August 2013

Sharon Thomas 01352 702324
sharon.b.thomas@flintshire.gov.uk

A meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE will be held in the CLWYD
COMMITTEE ROOM, COUNTY HALL, MOLD CH7 6NA on MONDAY,

2"° SEPTEMBER, 2013 at 6.00 PM to consider the following items.

Please note that a training session for Standards Committee members will be

held from 6.00pm to 6.30pm.

Yours faithfully

e

[ P—

Democracy & Governance Manager

AGENDA

1 APOLOGIES

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING

DECLARATIONS)

3 MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2013.

County Hall, Mold. CH7 6NA

Tel. 01352 702400 DX 708591 Mold 4
www.flintshire.gov.uk

Neuadd y Sir, Yr Wyddgrug. CH7 6NR
Ffén 01352 702400 DX 708591 Mold 4
www.siryfflint.gov.uk

The Council welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English
Mae'r Cyngor yn croesawau gohebiaeth yn y Cymraeg neu'r Saesneg



DISPENSATIONS (Pages 5 - 6)

RESULT OF CASE TRIBUNAL (Pages 7 - 38)

To inform the Committee of the outcome of the case tribunal hearing in
respect of Patrick Heesom.

The Head of Legal & Democratic Services will also give a verbal update on
the current situation.
FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 39 - 40)

For the Committee to consider topics to be included on the attached Forward
Work Programme.




10.

1.

Agenda Item 3

STANDARDS COMMITTEE
8 JULY 2013

Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of Flintshire County Council
held at Clwyd Committee Room, County Hall, Mold CH7 6NA on Monday, 8 July
2013

PRESENT: Mr Patricia Jones (Chair)
Councillors: David Cox, Hilary McGuill and Arnold Woolley

Co-opted members: Robert Dewey, Jonathan Duggan-Keen, Phillipa Earlam, and
Edward Hughes

APOLOGIES: Head of Legal and Democratic Services, and Chris Bretherton-
Watt.

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Patrick Heesom

IN ATTENDANCE: Democracy and Governance Manager, and Committee
Officer

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING DECLARATIONS)

There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 June 2013 were
submitted.

Matters arising

Page 3: The Democracy and Governance Manager advised that the Flintshire
Local Resolution Procedure had been approved by Council at the meeting held
on 25 June 2013.

Page 4: The Democracy and Governance Manager reported that the amended
Code of Conduct for Members had also been approved at the above meeting.

In response to a request from members the Democracy and Governance
Manager agreed to send a copy of the revised Code of Conduct for Members and
the Local Resolution Procedure to the Committee. He also agreed to send a
copy of the protocol for member/officer relations to Mrs. P. Earlam.

RESOLVED:
That the minutes be received, approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct
record.

Page 1



12.

13.

14.

DISPENSATIONS

There were no requests for dispensation.

ETHICAL ADVICE ON COLLABORATION

The Democracy and Governance Manager introduced a report to approve
a Protocol on how ethical advice would be given in respect of collaboration
between authorities. He provided background information and commented on
the governance arrangements for collaborative working. He emphasised the
need for Members to receive clear and consistent advice and referred to the
importance of liaison between the Officers advising joint committees and the
Monitoring Officers providing advice from the participating Councils.

The Democracy and Governance Manager advised that the process was
designed to enable a collective view to be taken of potential interests and
depended on advice being sought early to function at its most effective. He
explained that unilateral action was still possible where advice had to be given
without the opportunity for liaison. Members were asked to consider the draft
Protocol which was attached to the report.

During discussion the Democracy and Governance Manager responded to
the questions and concerns raised around the consequences if Members did not
follow the advice given by the advisors or if the advice provided was not correct.
He said that it was for the individual member to decide whether they had an
interest and if they did which type it was. Whether the Member had followed the
advice given would be an important factor for the Public Services Ombudsman
irrespective of whether the advice had been correct.

Councillor H.J. McGuill sought clarification concerning the position of
Member representatives who sat on the various committees and forums of
outside bodies. The Democracy and Governance Manager advised that
Members should obtain advice from to the appropriate senior officer for the Body
concerned. He said that if an organisation did not have a code of conduct then
members should abide by the Flintshire Code of Conduct.

Councillor A. Woolley proposed that the Protocol be approved. The
proposal was seconded by Councillor H.J. McGuill and became the resolution of
the Committee.

RESOLVED:

That the Protocol be approved.

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Democracy and Governance Manager introduced the Forward Work
Programme and invited members to put forward items for future consideration.
He suggested that if members wished to add further items to the Programme at

Page 2



15.

any point in the future they could contact himself or the Head of Legal and
Democratic Services to put their topics forward.

Councillor H.J. McGuiill referred to the training session to be held at the 2
September 2013 meeting and suggested that an item be included to address the
matter of where a Member has a dual role as a County Councillor and as a
Community Councillor.

RESOLVED:

(@)  That the Forward Work Programme be agreed; and

(b)  That an item to address the matter of where a Member has a dual role as
a County Councillor and as a Community Councillor be included in the

training session to be held at the meeting of the Committee on 2
September 2013.

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC IN ATTENDANCE

There were no members of the public or the press in attendance.

(The meeting started at 6.30 pm and ended at 6.55 pm)

Chairman

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



FLINTSHIRE counTy councitAJenda ltem 4

APPLICATION FOR DISPENSATION TO THE
STANDARDS COMMITTEE

BY MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL
Name of Councillor CHLSTio= Mwﬁme/r < odes
R lelsih €N
Address 6%@»6\1 C 1o
() X SR
FupisHle
Electoral Division < 2 ALASN

o gPeAlk S Rek et

= (2L 3N NG CotliTTee o
A itneNA —EerN

Nature of Dispensation sought

I

S e Bi< —+(foTe

Level of Dispensation sought (i.e. to
speak only or to speak and vote)

f// -
Relevant Paragraph under which
Dispensation is requested (See
overleaf)

LASK o SP A< g Azﬁof/(d}/(‘od

Fon Cleoh @ lade U ( FLaISH2= .
Details of the Prejudicial Interest (R 0 AgUten's PARe s (S

s Srsgerthicen LAk Digiey S
s & ReTT™( Dresei) 2

CABme T Honlet
Details of any Position of

A c oS
responsibility/control held on Council Q o At Sedfdc

(e.g. Chairman/Vice-Chairman) e T /WN‘NZ] C o AT oo

Signed: (/\W Date: ?"’% — Dot

A4

Page 5

L:Admin'\Democratic'General\FCC-Application for Dispensation Form-Town Community-110608



Circumstances When A Standards Committee May Grant Dispensation

The Standards Committee (Grant of Dispensations) (Wales) Regulations 2001
specifies that the Council's Standards Committee may grant dispensations under
Section 81(4) of the Local Government Act 2000 where;

(@) no fewer than half of the Members of the Council or of a Committee of the Council
(as the case may be) by which the business is to be considered has an interest
which related to that business;

(b) no fewer than half of the Members of the Executive of the Council (i.e. Leader and
Cabinet) by which the business is to be considered has an interest which relates
to that business and either paragraph (d) or (e) also applies;

(c) Members' inability to participate would upset the political balance of the Council,
or any of its committees by which the business is to be considered, to such an
extent that the outcome would be likely to be affected;

(d) the nature of the Member's interest is such that the Member's participation in the
business to which the interest relates would not damage public confidence in the
conduct of the Council’s business;

(e) the interest is common to the Member and a significant proportion of the general
public;

(f) the participation of the Member in the business to which the interest relates is
justified by the Member’s particular role or expertise;

(9) the registerable interest relates to business, which is to be considered by an
Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the Council, and the Member's interest is
not a pecuniary/financial interest;

(h) the business relates to the finances of property of a voluntary organisation of
whose management committee or board the Member is a member otherwise than
as a representative of the Council and the Member has no other interest in that
business, provided that any dispensation shall not extend to participation in any
vote with respect to that business; or

(i) it appears to the Standard Committee to be in the interest of the inhabitants of
the area of the Council that the disability should be removed, provided that written
notification of the grant of the dispensation is given to the National Assembly for
Wales within 7 days. Such a notification should specify the Member to whom the
dispensation would apply and the Standards Committee’'s reasons why the
disability should be removed.

Page 6

L:Admin\Democratic\General\FCC-Application for Dispensation Form-Town Community-110608



Agenda Item 5

FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: STANDARDS COMMITTEE
DATE: MONDAY, 2 SEPTEMBER 2013
REPORT BY: MONITORING OFFICER
SUBJECT: RESULT OF CASE TRIBUNAL

1.00 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.01  To inform the committee of the outcome of the case tribunal hearing in
respect of Patrick Heesom.

2.00 BACKGROUND

2.01 The chronology and history of the case is set out in the Panel’s
findings which are attached (they will shortly be published on the
website of the Adjudication Panel for Wales). In summary, a
complaint was made in March 2009. The Ombudsman investigated
and referred the matter for a hearing on the 22 July 2010. The
Adjudication Panel for Wales convened a case tribunal which
commenced its hearing in February 2011 and concluded the hearing
on the 19 July 2013.

2.02 The case tribunal determined that Councillor Heesom had committed
14 breaches of the 2001 and 2008 Codes of Conduct on 9 separate
occasions over a 2 year period. They disqualified him for a period of 2
years and 6 months.

2.03 Under Section 79 of the Local Government Act 2000 the case tribunal
must serve notice on the Standards Committee of its decision. That
notice was served on me as Monitoring Officer on the 19 July 2013
and Councillor Heesom was therefore disqualified with immediate
effect.

3.00 CONSIDERATIONS

3.01  Under Section 80 of the Local Government Act 2000 a case tribunal is
able to make recommendations, where it considers it appropriate to
do so, to the authority of which the disqualified Councillor was a
member. It has not done so in this case. To that extent there are no
matters which the committee is legally obliged to consider arising from
the judgement. However, the committee may wish to consider what, if
any, further actions are needed as a consequence of this decision
whether that be to capture learning and vital lessons or whether it be
to improve procedures.

Page 7



3.02

4.00

4.01

4.02

5.00

5.01

6.00

6.01

7.00

7.01

8.00

8.01

9.00

9.01

10.00

10.01
11.00

11.01

12.00

12.01

A Councillor has 21 days in which to seek their leave of the High
Court to appeal against any findings that he or she is in breach of the
Code of Conduct. At the time of writing the report no such papers had
been filed with the High Court, although it was understood that Mr
Heesom intended to appeal. If he is successful in getting permission
to appeal then the Court has a power to order that the tribunal
sanction is suspended pending the outcome of the appeal. This
would mean that Mr Heesom would effectively be reinstated as a
Councillor until the outcome of his appeal was known.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That members note the outcome of the hearing.

That the committee consider what further steps (if any) are needed as
a consequence of this decision.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

If the appeal is unsuccessful, or if no appeal is made, then the Council
will need to hold a by-election.

ANTI POVERTY IMPACT

None directly arising from the report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

None directly arising from the report.

EQUALITIES IMPACT

None directly arising from the report.

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS

None directly arising from the report.

CONSULTATION REQUIRED

None directly arising from the report.
CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN

None directly arising from the report.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 — Notice of Decision from Case Tribunal dated
19 July 2013
Appendix 2 - Findings of Fact (Sent to members of the Standards

Page 8



Committee under separate cover. It is also available
on the Council’s website)

Appendix 3 - Findings of Breach

Appendix 4 - Findings of Sanction

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT) 1985
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

None

Contact Officer: Gareth Owens

Telephone: 01352 702344

Email: gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



PPPENDIXR -

(CT12 v01.09.10)

PANEL DYFARNU CYMRU
ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR WALES

NOTICE OF DECISION

TRIBUNAL REFERENCE NUMBER: APW/005/2010-011/CT

RESPONDENT: Councillor Patrick Heesom
RELEVANT AUTHORITY(IES): Flintshire County Council
1. A Case Tribunal convened by the President of the Adjudication Panel for

Wales has considered a reference in respect of the above Respondent.

2. In a letter dated 22 July 2010, the Adjudication Panel for Wales received a
referral from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (“the Ombudsman”) in
relation to allegations made against Clir Patrick Heesom. In summary, the
allegations were that Clir Heesom had breached Flintshire County Council’'s Code
of Conduct by failing to show respect and consideration for officers of the Council;
using bullying or harassing behaviour, attempting to compromise the impartiality of
officers and, in so doing, conducting himself in a manner likely to bring his office or
the Council into disrepute.

3. The Case Tribunal sat in North Wales for a total of 58 days before
concluding its adjudication on 19 July 2013. The Case Tribunal found by
unanimous decision that Clir Heesom failed to comply with Flintshire County
Council's Code of Conduct as follows:

2001 Code of Conduct

3.1 Conduct towards officers of the Council at a meeting of the People
Performance Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14 February 2007
(paragraph 4(a) - Failure to show respect and consideration for others).

3.2 Conduct relating to a proposed mutual exchange by Council housing
tenants between 27 April 2007 and 21 November 2007 (paragraphs 4(a)
and 4(b) — conduct which compromises, or which is likely to compromise,
the impartiality of the authority’s employees).

3.3  Writing an inappropriate letter to a Council housing tenant on 9
August 2007 (paragraphs 4(a) and 6(1)(b) — bringing the office of member or
the authority into disrepute).

2008 Code of Conduct

3.4 Conduct towards an officer of the Council prior to a Sheltered
Housing Visioning Day on 7 November 2008 (paragraph 4(b) - Failure to

Page 11



(CT12v01.09.10)

4.

show respect and consideration for others; and paragraph 4(c) — Using
bullying behaviour or harassing any person).

3.5  Making inappropriate comments about an officer of the Council on an
unidentified date after August 2008 (paragraph 4(b)).

3.6  Conduct towards an officer of the Council at a meeting on 4 July
2008 (paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c)).

3.7  Conduct towards officers of the Council at a meeting on 18 December
2008 and at a homelessness interview on 25 February 2009 (paragraph
4(b)).

3.8  Conduct towards officers of the Council at a Head of Housing
selection meeting on 12 February 2009 (paragraph 4(b)).

3.9 Conduct towards officers of the Council at Head of Planning selection
meetings on 29 January 2009 and 6 February 2009 (paragraphs 4(b) and

4(c)).
The Case Tribunal found that Clir Heesom did not breach the Code of

Conduct as follows:

2001 Code of Conduct

41 Comments made about the Council's Adult Social Care Directorate at
a meeting of the People Performance Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
14 February 2007 (paragraph 4(a)).

4.2  Writing an inappropriate letter to a Council housing tenant on 9
August 2007 (paragraph 7(a) — using position improperly to confer on, or
secure, for any person ...an advantage or disadvantage).

2008 Code of Conduct

4.3 Conduct towards an officer of the Council at a Sheltered Housing
Visioning Day on 7 November 2008 (paragraphs 4(b), 4(c) and 6(1)(a -
bringing the office of member or the authority into disrepute).

4.4 Comments made about an officer of the Council on 14 November
2008 (paragraph 4(b)).

45 Conduct towards an officer of the Council at a meeting on 4 July
2008 (paragraph 4(d) — conduct which compromises, or is likely to
compromise, the impartiality of those who work for the Council).

46 Conduct towards officers of the Council at Head of Housing selection
meetings on 18 and 19 February 2009 (paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c)).

Page 12



(CT12 v01.09.10)

4.7 Conduct towards officers of the Council at a meeting of the
Community and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 7 January
2009 (paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c)).

5. The Case Tribunal decided by unanimous decision that Clir Heesom should
be disqualified for 2 years and 6 months from being or becoming a member of
Flintshire County Council or of any other relevant authority within the meaning of
the Local Government Act 2000, with effect from the date of this notice.

6. Flintshire County Council and its Standards Committee are notified
accordingly.

7. The Respondent has the right to seek the leave of the High Court to appeal
the above decision.

8. The Case Tribunal's full reasons will be published on the Adjudication Panel
for Wales’ website in due course.

/
: ‘\)W Date...19 July 2013............

Hywel James
Chairperson of the Case Tribunal

Peter Davies
Tribunal Member

Susan Hurds
Tribunal Member

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



APPENDIX 3

Tribunal Reference Number: APW/005/2010-011/CT — Clir P Heesom

Decision as to Breach

1. We have previously in earlier decisions and in our Findings of Fact set
out the relevant regulatory provisions under which we operate. In Listing
Directions given at the outset of this case we outlined the three stage
procedure as to our proceedings. We delivered our Findings of Fact in writing
on 17 June 2013. We now turn to consider whether or not, on the basis of our
Findings of Fact, breaches of the relevant Codes of Conduct by the
Respondent have been made out.

2. This case requires consideration of two Codes of Conduct which the
Respondent gave undertakings to comply with. The 2001 Code of Conduct
came into force in 2001. The 2008 Code of Conduct came into force on 2
May 2008. In terms of both Codes of Conduct the Respondent undertook to
comply with that Code of Conduct. He gave the undertaking on 15 June 2004
in terms of the 2001 Code of Conduct and the 12 May 2008 in terms of the
2008 Code of Conduct. We have considered the representations made on
behalf of the Ombudsman and on behalf of the Respondent. We enquired of
Counsel for the Respondent if he differed in any material manner from the
approach of the Ombudsman which repeated the three stage process relevant
to our consideration of breach as noted in the cases of Sanders v Kingston
2005 and more particularly as outlined in the case of Calver by Mr Justice
Beatson - ‘Calver v Adjudication Panel for Wales [2012] EWHC 1172
(Admin)’.

3. Reference was made to the case of Calver in the submissions received
on behalf of the Respondent but it did not address expressly the three stage
test. In particular, submissions on behalf of the Respondent did not address
whether a finding of a breach and thereby denying the Respondent his Article
10 rights was necessary under the provisions of Article 10 subparagraph 2. In
oral submissions Counsel for the Respondent stated he did not differ from the
approach outlined by Counsel for the Ombudsman.

4, In our consideration of whether or not there have been breaches of the
Code of Conduct, we as a Case Tribunal must have regard to the
Respondent’s rights under Article 10 of the European Convention on Human
Rights (“the Convention”). Article 10 provides as follows:

1. ‘Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall
include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information
and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of
frontiers.....".

2. ‘The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions,

Page 15



restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in
a democratic society in the interests of ....... the protection of the
reputation or rights of others....... .

8. In considering what amounts to political expression we take on board
the comments of Mr Justice Beatson in the case of Calver. Those do not
have to be high manifestations of political expression but may fall within a
broader sense of the term ‘political expression’ as applied in the Strasbourg
jurisprudence.

6. The three stage test as cited in case law sets out the approach we
have to follow:

1. Can we as a panel as a matter of fact conclude that the
Respondent’s conduct amounted to a relevant breach of the Code of
Conduct.

2. If so, was the finding of a breach and the imposition of a sanction
prima facie a breach of Article 10?

3. If so is the restriction involved one which is justified by reason of the
requirements of Article 10 subparagraph 27?

[ Mr Justice Beatson in the case of Calver made observations which
comment upon the process. It is clear that if doubt exists in the construction
or application of Codes of Conduct that the Respondent is entitled to such
doubt. Each case is fact sensitive.

8. Counsel for the Ombudsman referred to the comments of Mr Justice
Beatson in the case of Calver at Paragraph 49 and it is worth repeating:

‘Notwithstanding the high importance of freedom of expression and its
relative incommensurability with the interests that are involved in
justifying restriction, the more egregious the conduct, the easier it is
likely to be for the panel and for the Court to undertake the balancing
that is required and justifiable to conclude that what was said or done
falls within one of the exceptions of freedom of expression under
common law, statute or the Convention. If the conduct is less
egregious it is likely to be more difficult to do this. This is because the
interest of freedom of expression and in the present context proper
standards of conduct by members of local authorities are not easily
commensurable.’

9. In the case of Calver guidance was also given as to political speech
and it should be noted that not all statements of politicians amount to political
expression. In paragraph 61 of the judgment of Calver Mr Justice Beatson
states, ‘This does not mean that everything said by a politician or a member of
a local council will attract enhanced protection’. In his judgement Mr Justice
Beatson refers to the comments of Baroness Hale in Campbell v Mirror Group
Newspapers in terms of political speech ‘Information on matters relevant to

Page 16



the organisation of the economic, social and political life of the country’.
Strasbourg jurisprudence provides a wider definition and in particular the case
of Thoriksson v Iceland) 1992 ‘There is no warrant in this case at all for
distinguishing between political discussion and discussion of other matters of
public concern.’

10. Comments were made in Calver that politicians are expected to have
broader shoulders than other members of the public and they are subject to
another’s expression of his freedom of speech. In certain circumstances we
could see that this could be applied to the most senior officers of a local
authority if said in the right context and circumstances. We would note,
however, it would be necessary also to have regard to the fact that an elected
councillor is in effect a quasi-employer of that senior official. No express
representations were made to us on this point by the Respondent.

11.  We turn to the specific breaches alleged.
1. The Respondent’s conduct towards Mrs Susan Lewis, Director of

Community Services and People and Performance Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, on 14" February 2007.

12.  Itis alleged there was a breach of paragraph 4(a) of the 2001 Code,
failure to show respect and consideration for others, and in the particular it is
alleged in terms of his conduct towards Susan Lewis and Maureen Mullaney
at the People and Performance Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14
February 2007. Clir Heesom described the Council’'s Adult Social Care
Director as a “shambles” and “shambolic” and said that “a number of the
managers of the Council had been dispensed with and there were more to

go”.

13.  In our summary of Findings of Fact we found that the Respondent
described the management of the Adult Social Care Director as a “shambles”
and “shambolic”. At the conclusion of the meeting the Respondent was
looking in a menacing fashion at Susan Lewis and Maureen Mullaney and
stated that a number of managers on the Council had been dispensed with
and there were more to go. The intention and effect of this statement was
one of a threat to either or both of the officers.

14.  There are two separate parts to the failure to show respect and
consideration for others at the scrutiny meeting. Firstly, describing the
management of the Adult Social Care, Susan Lewis and Maureen Mullaney
being senior officers present, as a shambles and shambolic. We are satisfied
that those comments in the context that they were said amount to a failure to
show respect and consideration to others. They were said in a public forum
and, whilst there were concerns as to sickness levels, they were unjustified in
terms of describing the directorate. However, a finding of breach in our view
would be a breach of the Respondent’s Article 10 rights. We have considered
the context of the comments, a discussion as to the performance and
statistical information involving the directorate. The comments are ones of

Page 17



political expression and therefore attract enhanced protection to such
comments. The finding of a breach and indeed imposition of any sanction in
terms of the comments ‘shambles’ and ‘shambolic’ would be an unjustifiable
and disproportionate interference with the Respondent’s Article 10 rights.

15.  The second part of the allegation as to the meeting is the comment
directed at either or both of the officers, Susan Lewis and Maureen Mullaney,
namely that a number of managers had been dispensed with and there were
more to go. The words in our findings were said in a menacing fashion while
the Respondent was looking at both officers. The comments in our findings
amount to a breach of the Code in that the Respondent failed to show respect
and consideration to both officers. The comments were in a nature of a
threat. The comments were not an innocent comment of a pure factual
nature. Whilst we sought clarification from the Respondent as to whether they
could be interpreted as purely factual he was not able to confirm same in his
oral evidence. The comments were made by an elected councillor at the end
of a Council meeting and were directed at officers of the Council. The
comments, whilst being of a borderline nature, were comments of a political
expression and therefore attract enhanced protection the finding of a breach
and the imposition of a sanction could amount to a breach of the
Respondent’s Article 10 rights.

16.  The issue we have to consider is whether a finding of a breach of the
2001 Code as to these further comments is a justifiable and proportionate
interference with the Respondent’s common law and Article 10 right to
freedom of speech. The comments have to be viewed in the context of
criticism of the directorate as a whole earlier in the meeting. We have regard
to the fact that both officers were of a senior level and therefore would have a
greater degree of robustness. However, the comments were a threat. The
Respondent was an elected councillor and therefore had a quasi-employer
status towards employees of the Authority and as such the comment could
break the obligation of mutual trust between employer and employee. These
lead us to a conclusion that restricting the Respondent’s Article 10 and
common law rights is justified and proportionate. We therefore find in terms of
the comment, “A number of managers have been dispensed with and more
are to go,” is a failure to show respect and consideration to others and it is a
serious breach of the 2001 Code.

2. The mutual exchange and to the letters written to Mr and Mrs Dodd and Ms
Mills on 9 Auqust 2007.

17.  There are five allegations of breach. Firstly, paragraph 4(a) for the
2001 Code, failure to show respect and consideration for others. In the
particulars it refers to Clir Heesom’s conduct regarding the Dodd mutual
exchange between 27 April 2007 and 21 November 2007 and the Wrexham
Council review of that decision.

18.  Secondly, paragraph 4(b) of the 2001 Code is also alleged to have
been breached, which is not to do anything which compromises or which is

Page 18



likely to compromise the impartiality of the Authority’s employees. That again
relates to similar particulars.

19.  Thirdly, paragraph 4(a) of the 2001 Code, failure to show respect and
consideration for others. This refers to Clir Heesom’s letter of 9 August 2007
inter alia stating, ‘I cannot see any reason why you do not live in each other’s
houses at the very least to see if the different properties suit you both’.

20.  Fourthly, an allegation of breach of paragraph 6(1)(b) of the 2001 Code
where a councillor behaves in a manner which could be reasonably regarded
as bringing the office of member or the Authority into disrepute. This again
refers to the letter of 9 August 2007.

21.  Fifthly, it is alleged there is a breach of paragraph 7(a) of the 2001
Code that the Respondent used his position improperly to confer on or secure
for any person an advantage of disadvantage. This again refers to the letter
of 9 August 2007.

22. The relevant Code engaged in terms of these breaches is the 2001
Code. We are satisfied that whilst the writing of the letter was intended to
provide reassurance for the parties proposing to exchange properties, they
did not proceed and therefore no advantage was gained. Even if the
exchange had proceeded it is unclear whether the individuals would have
gained an advantage, save they would be seeking to argue that they were
now in situ and the Authority should not seek a Possession Order. They
would have suffered a disadvantage in that they would have breached their
tenancy agreements and could have lost security of tenure. The exchange
did not take place as a result of the letter.

23. The 2001 Code, in contrast to the 2008 Code, does not include the
express word ‘attempt’ by a councillor to use his position improperly.... The
issue is not addressed in the submission on breach by the Respondent. We
as a Case Tribunal considered whether by implication interpretation of the
2001 Code includes an attempt. We have resolved, however, in the context
of this case, and in particular of the letter, not to include by implication
interpretation of the 2001 Code as including an attempt. We therefore find no
breach in terms of paragraph 7(a) of the 2001 Code. There remains however
four separate alleged breaches and we address each as to whether there is a
breach by the Respondent.

24.  The conduct of the Respondent in terms of the mutual exchange, which
we have found reprehensible, includes a finding the Respondent involved
himself in the decision-making process. Under the Homelessness Act 1997
he was disqualified from involving himself in that decision-making process.

He had also been advised in general terms by way of a letter of 14 December
2006 of the restrictions as to his role as a councillor in housing matters. His
conduct went well beyond making mere representations on behalf of his
constituents and was an attempt to coerce officers. This failed to show
respect and consideration for others and compromised the impartiality of the
Authority’s employees. On two occasions he advised Council employees that

Page 19



he was going to tell the families concerned to exchange anyway. This was at
a time he knew that the Authority had refused consent to the exchange. He
had also been advised of the serious implications to the tenants. In
communications he seriously misrepresented the position. For example, on
24 May 2007 he falsely indicated that the Cabinet member for Housing, Clir
Attridge, intended to override officers and allow the exchange to proceed.
Further, in a telephone message on or around 11 June 2007 he suggested
Barry Davies had agreed to the mutual exchange proceeding when he knew,
firstly, Barry Davies had no such authority and, secondly, Mr Davies had not
provided such authority nor indeed indicated to the Respondent he had given
such authority. He wrongly advised Mrs Dodd on or around 25 September
2007 that the exchange had been authorised when it had not.

25. Based on our findings and as outlined, the Respondent’s actions
represented a failure by him to show respect and consideration for others and
he acted in a manner which compromised or was likely to compromise the
impartiality of officers. The Respondent made serious unsustainable
allegations against several officers involved in the decision-making process.
These included Richard Birchett and Elaine Williams. In the case of Elaine
Williams he sought a suspension of an officer when there was no basis to do
so. Neither of these officers were senior officers.

26. In terms of the letter the Respondent wrote and forwarded, it was a
letter to two sets of tenants of the Authority authorising them to proceed with
an exchange of their property when he knew such action was in contravention
of the Authority’s refusal to grant their application for exchange. The letter
was intended to encourage and permit the tenants to proceed with an
exchange. It was providing in terms to the tenants, one of whom was
described by the Respondent as vulnerable and lacking in formal education,
reassurance by an elected councillor that they could proceed with an unlawful
exchange. The consequences of the letter were that it caused the tenants
distress and cost. It also placed Council officials in a difficult position, firstly,
on the day when the exchange was proposed to proceed and, secondly, in
undermining the role of officers in the decision-making process and in their
professional relationship with the tenants.

27. We did not find the decision to reject the mutual exchange by the
officers was wrong as a matter of fact or as a matter of law. If the tenants
disputed the decision to refuse the exchange the appropriate advice the
Respondent should have provided to the tenants was to seek to appeal such
a decision through the correct process. The letter failed to show respect and
consideration to others, being the tenants, as well as officers of Flintshire
County Council. The writing of the letter and its purpose contravened the
lawful role of a ward councillor. The letter was deceitful and had serious
consequences. On this basis we find it was behaviour which could
reasonably be regarded as bringing the office of member and the Authority
into disrepute.

28. On the above basis we find breaches of paragraphs 4(a) twice, 4(b)
and 6(1)(b) of the 2001 Code. The actions of the Respondent occurred whilst

Page 20



he was acting as an elected councillor and involved issues within his own
ward. It was in a broad sense of a political nature. Article 10 enhanced
protection is therefore engaged. However, on the basis of our findings and
the serious misconduct we have outlined in terms of the four breaches relating
to the exchange and to the letter, we conclude restrictions on the
Respondent’s Article 10 rights by our finding of breach and imposition of a
sanction as justified and proportionate.

3. The Respondent’s conduct towards Dawn Evans, a senior Sheltered
Housing Officer, at a meeting on 4" July 2008.

29.  There are three alleged breaches of the 2008 Code: 4(b), failing to
show respect and consideration, 4(c), not to use bullying behaviour or harass
any person, and, finally, 4(d) not to do anything which compromises or is likely
to compromise the impartiality of those who work for the Council. The
particulars relate to a meeting and conduct towards Dawn Evans on 4 July
2008.

30.  Our findings in terms of the incident at the Sheltered Housing meeting
on 4 July 2008 were that the Respondent was confrontational and aggressive.
He was rude and aggressive to Dawn Evans, a relatively junior officer. He
questioned Dawn Evans in an aggressive manner and accused her of trying
to downgrade residential wardens. He was critical of how she managed
accommodation issues in his constituency. Dawn Evans, who found his
conduct confrontational and intimidating, was upset by his conduct. In
reaching our findings of fact we took account of the fact that we did not hear
live sworn evidence from Dawn Evans. In terms of failing to show respect and
consideration for others and based on our findings, we find there is a breach
of paragraph 4(b) of the2008 Code. In our findings the Respondent’s conduct
at the meeting was confrontational and aggressive. He was rude and
aggressive to a relatively junior officer, he made an accusation she was
seeking to downgrade services and was critical of her management. She
found his conduct intimidating and was upset. The Ombudsman in his
guidelines, which we accept post date all incidents we are considering, notes
that councillors need to ensure their behaviour does not cross the line
between being forceful and bullying. In our findings the Respondent’s
conduct on 4 July 2008 did cross the line. From the perspective of Dawn
Evans, as noted in her written statement, she found his conduct to be bullying.
We take into account that the Respondent did not have the opportunity to
challenge that evidence. However, we heard from witnesses who were
present and who confirmed the Respondent’s conduct was confrontational
and intimidating and that it upset Dawn Evans, a relatively junior officer. The
Respondent at this time was now Executive Member of Housing Strategy. On
this basis we find a breach of paragraph 4(c) of the 2008 Code which is not to
use bullying behaviour or harass any person. We do not find there was
conduct which caused the officer to actually compromise her impartiality.
Whilst bullying behaviour could be said per se to be likely to affect the
impartiality of the officer, we have no direct evidence of that from Dawn
Evans. We are not satisfied based upon our findings that there was a breach
of paragraph 4(d).

Page 21



31. In terms of breaches of paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c), this was a meeting
held on Council premises with officers. The Respondent was present at his
request as Executive Member for Housing Strategy. We therefore do find he
was acting in a political context and the comments made were of a political
nature. However, failing to treat a relatively junior officer with respect and,
more significantly, engaging in conduct whereby he as Executive Member for
Housing was bullying that officer, is conduct which on all factors lead us to the
conclusion that restricting the Respondent’s Article 10 enhanced rights are
justified and proportionate. This was again the position of a quasi-employer,
that is the Respondent as Executive Member and elected councillor and an
employee, with a potential breach of the relationship of mutual trust and
confidence. We therefore find breaches of 4(b) and 4(c) in terms of the 2008
Code in relation to the meeting on 4 July 2008 and a sanction is appropriate.

4. Visioning Day.

32.  Five breaches are alleged. Two are related to the letter with the
attached note circulated prior to the meeting of 7 November 2008 and the
three remaining breaches relate to conduct at the meeting itself. The
breaches which relate to the letter and note are 4(b), failure to show respect
and consideration, and 4(c), not to use bullying behaviour. Those relating to
conduct towards Susan Lewis at Visioning Day are 4(b), failure to show
respect, 4(c), not to use bullying behaviour, and 6(1)(a), not to conduct
himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing the office
or Authority into disrepute.

33. Interms of Visioning Day, we found the preparations had been fully
scoped and discussed with the Respondent and his actions in circulating the
letter to councillors before the meeting was intended to undermine Susan
Lewis as a Director. Comments in his note that Visioning Day was arranged
without authority of elected members were unwarranted, without foundation
and intended to undermine officers. Whilst we believe comments were made
during the meeting by the Respondent and there is some evidence that those
comments caused upset to Susan Lewis, we do not find on the balance of
probability that this was a sustained verbal attack. However, the Respondent
referred to the Director as ‘That officer’ and interrupted her stating “That
officer has no business to be bringing these things to you here today”. His
tone was dismissive and confrontational. The allegation in terms of a breach
of paragraph 6(1)(a), that is not to bring the office of member or the Authority
into disrepute relates solely to the Respondent’s conduct towards Susan
Lewis at Visioning Day itself on 7 November 2008.

34. Our findings as to the meeting are that there was no sustained verbal
attack by the Respondent other than comments of ‘That officer has no
business to be bringing those things here to you today’ said in a dismissive
and confrontational manner. Whilst there were invitees, limited in number,
who were not councillors or officers of the Council at the meeting, this was not
a meeting held as such in public. Whilst the comment made was inaccurate,
the Respondent’s conduct in our view does not cross the threshold to being

Page 22



action which brings the Authority or office of member into disrepute. The
comments had an effect on Susan Lewis and some of the officers noted this
also. In general terms, however, it did not cause the type of consternation
amongst councillors we would have expected of comments and actions which
brought the office of councillor or the Authority into disrepute.

35. We would point out a course of conduct towards an individual by a
councillor, in particular harassment towards an officer, could amount to
bringing the office or Authority into disrepute. The particulars as to potential
breach of 6(1)(a) relate to conduct towards Susan Lewis at Visioning Day on 7
November 2008 itself. At this date there had been no regular pattern of
harassment. There had been an isolated incident at the scrutiny meeting in
March 2007, there were comments made to Maureen Mullaney and there
were also comments to the Chief Executive in March 2008. The direct
incident with Susan Lewis was limited to that of March 2007 and,
subsequently, immediately prior to the meeting to the note circulated. These
are not enough to make findings of conduct, as at Visioning Day itself, of such
harassment as to make a finding that the officer of member of the Authority or
the Authority was brought into disrepute, therefore we do not find a breach in
terms of paragraph 6(1)(a).

36. On the basis of our findings we are satisfied the Respondent’s conduct,
both in circulation of the letter and attached note and in terms of his conduct
at the Visioning Day, did amount to breaches of 4(b), namely failure to show
respect and consideration to Susan Lewis. We further find in terms of both
parts it amounted to bullying behaviour towards Susan Lewis. In terms of the
letter and note it should be recorded that bullying behaviour can be carried out
in written form only and it can comprise of a single incident. In terms of the
letter and the note we take into account not only its contents but the manner
and timing of its distribution. In terms of the Respondent’s conduct at the
meeting we refer to our findings as to the Respondent’s tone being dismissive
and confrontational and the effect that the comment had upon Susan Lewis.
She was upset. In terms of both the letter and attached note and in terms of
the Respondent’s comments at Visioning Day we find that they were political
in nature and therefore enhanced protection of Article 10 is in engaged. We
need to consider separately whether finding of breach and indeed if
appropriate imposition of a sanction is justified and proportionate in terms of
denying his enhanced Article 10 rights.

37. We have found in terms of the letter and note that some of the contents
were unwarranted, without foundation and intended to undermine officers, in
particular Susan Lewis. Circulation of the letter and note to fellow councillors
has to be seen in the context of our findings that preparation for Visioning Day
had been fully scoped and discussed with the Respondent. On 3 November
2008 Susan Lewis replied to a query from the Respondent. Reassurances
had been given as to the scope and purpose of Visioning Day and agreement
had been reached as to the presentation of slides. The Respondent sought
unilaterally to undermine all the preparation for Visioning Day and undermine
Susan Lewis’s position by circulating the letter and note to councillors directly
without either referring back to Susan Lewis as to any ongoing concern or to

Page 23



advise her of his actions. It is noted in submissions on behalf of the
Respondent that Clir Attridge’s view was that if he had been Executive
Member he would not have allowed the day to proceed. Proper procedures
existed for postponing meetings. The aim of the Respondent by the manner
of his actions was to seek to torpedo the day and thereby undermine Susan
Lewis’s position. This he sought to achieve by circulation of the letter and
note direct to councillors. The Visioning Day in its scope had been approved
by the Executive. Had the note been reasonable and accurate no issue could
have been taken as to the manner of its circulation. However, the note, in our
finding, was unwarranted and without foundation and its contents made
allegations without foundation. For example, firstly by suggesting aspects of
the event had not been agreed or scoped with elected members. That was
false. Secondly, by stating that the Critical Housing Report had not been
brought to committee through the normal channels as a result of the failure of
officers. This was highly misleading. The Respondent knew it to be
misleading. Thirdly, by claiming that he and Clir Yale had not been given an
insight by the Director in particular to Visioning Day until 5 November 2008.
This was wrong in fact and was a misleading comment. Fourthly, suggestions
that officers were endeavouring to force their views upon members. This
again was not accurate. False and misleading statements have to be viewed
in the context that they were made by the Executive Member who had been
involved in the scoping and authorisation for the day. He was fully aware of
their misleading nature and the effect his letter and note would have on Susan
Lewis. This, coupled with the manner and nature of its circulation, lead us to
conclude, though enhanced protection of Article 10 is engaged, a finding of
breach and a potential imposition of a sanction is justified and proportionate.

38. Interms of Visioning Day itself the particulars are limited to the conduct
of the Respondent on the day and not linked to the circulation of the letter and
note beforehand, though it has to be said that the full context of events cannot
be ignored. The breaches alleged are failure to show respect and bullying of
Susan Lewis at the meeting but are limited to our findings of comments “That
officer” and “That officer has no right to be bringing these things to you’.
Whereas his tone was dismissive and confrontational, the limited nature of his
action and comments at Visioning Day itself, according to our findings, do not
justify in all the circumstances a denial of the Respondent’s Article 10
enhanced rights in terms of what was said by him at Visioning Day meeting.
Therefore based on his enhanced protection Article 10 rights we find no
breach capable of the imposition of sanction as to paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c)
relating to conduct towards Susan Lewis at Visioning Day itself. The
breaches therefore actionable are, paragraphs 4(b) 2008, failure to show
respect and consideration to Susan Lewis in the preparation of the letter and
note, and 4(c), not to use bullying behaviour or harass any person and, again
towards Susan Lewis, by preparation and circulation of the letter and note.

5. Alleged breach of paragraph 4(b), failing to show respect and consideration
for others.

39. This relates to comments made by the Respondent about Susan Lewis
which Peter Evans, the Deputy Monitoring Officer, overheard, “Sue Lewis is

Page 24



shit at her job,” and comments he also made to Maureen Harkin. The
comments to Maureen Harkin included, “Sue Lewis knows nothing about
housing and her days are numbered.” It is an allegation of 4(b) which is
contended in this matter. We found in our Findings of Fact that on 14
November 2008 the Respondent stated to another member in the members’
executive room, “Sue Lewis is shit at her job.” This was a comment made by
the Respondent on the same day that he forwarded a letter purporting to be
an apology in respect of his conduct at Visioning Day.

40. The Respondent had also been critical of Susan Lewis in comments
made to Maureen Harkin, a senior officer who worked under Susan Lewis.

He had indicated to Maureen Harkin that Susan Lewis knew nothing about
housing and “Her days are numbered.” The words uttered by the Respondent
were inappropriate and we find that the comment “Her days are numbered”
was intended to be a threat that the Respondent was going to seek to oust
Susan Lewis from her post. The comments were made with the intention of
undermining the position of Susan Lewis.

41.  As to the comment heard by Peter Evans, we do not know to whom the
comment was made or the context in which it was said. It was not said in a
public forum. It was not intended to be heard by anybody else. Whereas it is
indicative of the view held by the Respondent of Susan Lewis, it was not in
the circumstances a breach of the Code.

42. In terms of our Findings of Fact as to comments made to Maureen
Harkin, their intention and effect, we find they were a breach. Those
representing the Respondent contend that the comments made to Maureen
Harkin were political expressions by him. He was the Executive Member of
Housing and was expressing a view as to the performance of the Director. In
our view to state that the comments were political in nature is marginal. We
are prepared, however, to give the Respondent the benefit of doubt in terms
of the nature of the comments and whether his enhanced Article 10 rights are
engaged. In our findings, however, we find that the infringing of the
Respondent’s enhanced Article 10 rights are justified and proportionate in
terms of the finding of breach and potential imposition of a sanction relating to
the comments made to Maureen Harkin about Susan Lewis. We do so having
regard to the following. The comments are made in the context of a course of
conduct detrimental to Susan Lewis. Comments were said to an officer
directly accountable and answerable to Susan Lewis. They were made early
after Maureen Harkin had commenced work with the Authority. They were
said with the intention of undermining Susan Lewis. The Respondent had
been advised previously in writing by the Chief Executive of the appropriate
route and procedure, in particular appraisal, to follow if he had issues as to
Susan Lewis’s performance. We find in terms of comments made to Maureen
Harkin there is a breach of paragraph 4(b) of the 2008 Code.

Page 25



6. Alleged breach of paragraph 4(b) of the 2008 Code, failure to show respect
and consideration to others.

43. This relates to two incidents. Firstly, conduct towards Maureen Harkin
on 18 December 2008 and, secondly, conduct to Carolyn Littlewood on 25
February 2009 at a homelessness interview. Both incidents are noted in
heading 4.2.3 of the Listing Directions (amended) and relate to alleged
behaviour by the Respondent concerning housing allocations. We found in
terms of the meeting of 18 December 2008 the Respondent had sought to
interfere in the housing allocations process by seeking that officers operate
outside the allocations policy and that he sought to bring undue pressure as
Executive Member of Housing upon Officers to operate outside the allocations
policy. His conduct in seeking to persuade officers to allocate properties in
his ward to specific individuals outside the Council’'s agreed policy breached
the clear guidance given to the Respondent in a letter 14 December 2006 by
the then Interim Head of Housing. That is referenced at page B699 of the
case papers. The letter indicated such action could breach the law and
current good practice.

44. The Respondent stated in particular to Maureen Harkin, Head of
Housing, “| don’'t want to hear that, | want you to listen to me as the Executive
Member.” This was on the basis of the policy he viewed as not working. The
policy, however, was the policy that had to be operated by the officers. At the
meeting he stated words of the nature of the following “I'm not threatening you
as | don't need to, as | know you will follow what | am saying as you won't like
the repercussions if you don’t and you won’t believe the man | can become if
you put me in this position.” We found that this was a direct threat to Maureen
Harkin and that she perceived it as a threat. She felt intimidated and that the
Respondent was inappropriately involving himself in operational activity which
was outside the remit both of his role as Executive Member and as a ward
councillor. At the conclusion of the meeting he stated, “I'm not going to fall
out with you about this as you are a bright girl and | know you are listening to
me.” This again was put in the nature of a threat. We find that the words
were also patronising.

45. At the Homelessness Prevention interview the Respondent made
inappropriate comments and sought to wrongly interfere in the role of the
Homelessness Prevention Officer. He acted in a manner which intimidated
and undermined the role of Carolyn Littlewood and amounted to an attempt to
bully the officer. In terms of both incidents we find that there were breaches
of paragraph 4(b), namely failure to show respect and consideration to each
of the respective officers. Indeed, it could be said there were potentially
breaches of other aspects of the 2008 Code, however we are limited in our
consideration to paragraph 4(b) only.

46. The Respondent through submissions by his representative maintains
there was a political background to the issue and that what he was trying to
do was represent his constituents, though there is no direct or express
reference to Article 10 rights in terms of the incidents in the submission. If we
were considering, for example, in terms of the December 2008 meeting, a

Page 26



breach of improper use of his position by way of his interference in housing
allocations, this may fall outside political expression. The breaches, however,
relate to his comments to officers in the context of advancing, as he saw it, his
constituent’s case. Though in particular in relation to the December 2008
meeting, it is marginal whether his enhanced Article 10 rights are engaged we
are willing to proceed on that basis. However, in terms of both incidents we
find on the basis of our Findings of Fact that restricting the Respondent’s
Article 10 rights is justified and proportionate. We do so balancing his right to
represent and advocate a case on behalf of his constituents with a need to
have regard to the officers’ roles and duties. The Respondent in terms of both
meetings seriously failed to appreciate and have regard to the role of the
officers, to the policy which had to be applied and sought to undermine their
position. He wrongly interfered in their role. In terms of the 2008 meeting he
made comments which were threats to Maureen Harkin. In terms of both
officers he sought to intimidate them. Protection of officers in such positions
require to be ensured and is a basis for finding a breach and a justifiable and
proportionate imposition of a sanction, notwithstanding the Respondent’s
enhanced Article 10 rights.

7. The Respondent’s conduct at the meeting of the Community and Housing
Overview Scrutiny Committee, 7 January 2009.

47.  Two breaches are alleged: 4b), failure to show respect and
consideration and 4(c) not to use bullying behaviour. This is conduct alleged
towards officers at the 7 January 2009 meeting. Our Findings of Fact based
on assessment of the evidence in terms of the Scrutiny meeting on 7 January
2009 was that, whilst the Respondent was critical of the report presented, the
way it was prepared and that he may have expressed his opinion in a loud
and confrontational manner, we do not find there is evidence of him showing
lack of respect to others at that meeting or of him undermining officers. The
Respondent was loud and confrontational but that confrontation was with
other elected members. In light of our Findings of Fact we find both
allegations of breach not proven.

8. Head of Planning appointment process.

48.  There are two allegations of breaches of 4(b), failing to show respect
and consideration, and 4(c) not to use bullying behaviour. The breaches
relate to conduct towards officers at the Head of Planning selection meetings
29 January and 6 February 2009. We found that in terms of the Head of
Planning appointment process the Respondent did not act with the objectivity
required. At the meeting on 29 January he questioned Sharon Carney as to
her planning qualification and such comments were made with the intention of
undermining the officer and her role in the process. At the meeting on 6
February 2009 he adopted an aggressive and hostile attitude to Sharon
Carney and her presentation of BEI feedback. His comment on 6 February
aimed at the Director of Environmental Services, “If he dares,” was intended
to ensure the officer did not speak and was a threat. The complaint as to
officers’ conduct as outlined in the letter to Carl Longland was unwarranted
and misleading.

Page 27



49. It should be noted that Sharon Carney was not a senior officer within
the HR Department. As noted in our findings, her role in the process had
been fully scoped and the Respondent as an appointment panel member was
fully aware of her role in the long-listing procedure. Both on 29 January and 6
February the Respondent’s conduct towards Sharon Carney failed to show
her respect and consideration. Bullying, as we have noted previously, can be
viewed as a single incident. In the case of Sharon Carney we found the
Respondent at the first meeting sought to undermine her position as an officer
and her role in the process. He did this by questioning her planning
qualifications when he knew full well she had none and knew as a HR officer
her specific role in the process. He did so at the second meeting by adopting
a hostile and aggressive attitude towards her.

50. Bullying has to be viewed from the perspective of the alleged victim.
Legitimate challenges by a councillor are allowed, however, his hostile
conduct at the meetings towards Sharon Carney was done in an attempt to
undermine her. His conduct would have affected her confidence. This we find
was bullying. It should be remembered that Sharon Carney had also
witnessed the Respondent’s conduct towards Dawn Evans.

51. The comment at the second meeting, “If he dares,” referring to Carl
Longland failed to show the Director respect. Mr Longland, however, in our
view, was not bullied. Carl Longland’s recollection was of a phrase along the
lines of “Keep out of it.” We find a breach of 4(b) in terms of both individuals
and 4(c) in terms of his conduct towards Sharon Carney. The role of the
Respondent in the appointment process was not of a political nature. He was
there effectively to assess the merits of the candidates and to appoint the best
person for the post.

52. In terms of the Head of Housing appointment process the Respondent
made great emphasis of the fact the candidate’s views on stock transfer
issues, what could be termed as political views, were not relevant. Comments
at the appointments meeting are not therefore political expressions and we
find the Respondent’s enhanced protection Article 10 rights are not engaged.
Submissions on behalf of the Respondent do not expressly refer to Article 10
rights. There is general reference to political background. We fail to see how
there can be a political context to an objective and impartial appointment
procedure. The breaches as found do not contravene for the reasons given
Article 10.

9. Head of Housing appointment process

53. The relevant allegations of breaches are 4(b), failure to show respect
and consideration, and 4(c), not to use bullying behaviour. It is conduct
towards officers at Head of Housing selection meetings 12, 18 and 19
February 2009 which are specifically under consideration. In terms of the
Head of Housing process, we found that the Respondent’s conduct on 12
February 2009 included a verbal attack both on Natalie Pridding and Susan
Lewis and that the Respondent was seeking to undermine the role of the

Page 28



officers at that meeting. We did not find that there was any such verbal attack
at the meeting on the 19 February 2009. We do not on the basis of our
findings believe that at the meetings of 18 and 19 February 2009 the
Respondent’s comment amounted to breach of either provisions of the Code.
The position is different in terms of the meeting on 12 of February 2009.

54.  In terms of our findings and balancing matters under consideration as
to bullying, we do not find his conduct at the meeting of 12 February 2009
amounted to bullying. The meeting on all accounts was a heated and, we
have to say, chaotic one. In contrast to the Respondent’s verbal attack on
Sharon Carney during the Head of Planning process the verbal attack on
Natalie Pridding and Susan Lewis during the Head of Housing process was
limited to the first meeting that is the 12 February meeting. Though we are
satisfied that the Respondent was seeking to undermine officers at the first
meeting, this did not continue to a further meeting and was not of a sufficient
nature to amount to bullying. It did in our view amount to failing to show the
officers due consideration and respect on the 12 February and therefore
breached 4(b). Similar in terms to the Head of Planning appointment process,
the nature of the comments and conduct do not attract enhanced Article 10
protection. The conduct justifies a sanction notwithstanding the Respondent’s
normal Article 10 right.

55. We find fourteen breaches of the 2001 and 2008 Codes in total where
we believe sanction should be considered and taken.

Page 29



Page 30



APPENDIX 4

Tribunal Reference Number: APW/005/2010-011/CT — Clir P Heesom

Decision as to Sanction

1. Under the third stage in our proceedings we now consider the appropriate
sanction to be imposed. We have delivered our Findings of Fact and on the basis of
those findings have delivered a full decision as to breaches of the code of conduct in
terms of the Respondent, Clir Patrick Heesom. These were unanimous decisions of
the Case Tribunal. We took into account the Respondent'’s Atticle 10 rights and
whether the imposition of a sanction is a justifiable and proportionate interference
with the Respondent's common law and Article 10 rights. We found 14 separate
breaches, 5 breaches of the 2001 code, 9 breaches of the 2008 code. In terms of 3
of the breaches these related to the Head of Planning and Head of Housing
appointment procedures where we concluded they were not covered by enhanced
protection of Article 10. For the avoidance of doubt we confirm that given the nature
of the conduct, that is failure to show respect to officers and, in terms of the Head of
Planning, bullying of an officer, the imposition of a sanction did not breach the
Respondent's Article 10 rights in any event. The events for which we found
breaches cover the period February 2007 to February 2009.

2. In terms of particular breaches, we found 9 breaches of failing to show
respect and consideration for others. One of those breaches involved 2 separate
occasions, namely the 18 December 2008 and 25 February 2009. In terms of all of
these breaches, with an exception as to part of the findings relating to the mutual
exchange, they all related to failing to show respect to officers of Flintshire County
Council. We found 3 occasions when the Respondent breached the code by being
guilty of bullying behaviour. The 3 persons we found who were bullied by the
Respondent were on the 7 November 2008 Susan Lewis, Director of Community
Services; on the 4 July 2008 Dawn Evans a Senior Sheltered Housing Officer and in
January and February 2009 Sharon Carney a HR Manager. The Respondent in
terms of a mutual exchange between April and November 2007 breached the code
by acting in a manner which compromised or was likely to compromise the
impartiality of the Authority’s employees and also behaved in a manner which could
be reasonably regarded as bringing the office of the member or the Authority into
disrepute. In terms of the breaches we outlined in full in our Findings of Fact the
events which we found amounted to a breach.

3. These were summarised in part when we analysed whether the conduct
amounted to a breach and when we balanced the Respondent's Article 10 rights.
We do not intend to repeat those findings but adopt them in considering sanction.
We have outlined the history of the Ombudsman's investigation following a referral to
him in March 2009, we have also in previous decisions outlined in detail the history
of proceedings once the Case Tribunal was established. We again do not intend to
repeat such matters, save to note we have been required to sit a total of 58 days
over a 2% year period.

4, We heard from 48 witnesses. The Case Tribunal stood adjourned for a 12
month period due to the Respondent's ill health. The Respondent has throughout

Page 31



vigorously contested the allegations made against him. When concern as to his
conduct was raised at the time by the Chief Executive, by his Leader and other
senior officers of the Council he did not accept in the main that he needed to modify
his conduct. Following the referral to the Ombudsman he has continued to deny any
wrong doing.

B. During the course of these proceedings, in addition to seeking to deny any
wrong doing, he has attacked the honesty of a number of Flintshire County Council
officers, both senior and junior, describing at least 6 of them as being “liars,
fantasists or seriously deluded”. He contested the accuracy or truthfulness of at
least 20 contemporaneous documents, all of which were written prior to any referral
of a complaint to the Ombudsman. He further contested the truthfulness and
accuracy of other documents which accompanied the referral letter. \We refer to
paragraph 1.52 of our Findings of Fact. Despite this evidence he sought to contest
and it appears continues to challenge the evidence against him. As noted in
paragraph 1.47 of our Findings of Fact the Respondent had a tendency to directly
criticise the conduct and/or ability of witnesses who had given evidence against him
and to allege witnesses were engaged in some form of conspiracy against him. The
Respondent had an evasiveness to address specific events directly both in his
written presentation of his evidence, by way of his written witness statement, and in
his sworn oral evidence. We found in terms of the presentation of his evidence he
was not full, frank and honest.

6. In our findings at paragraph 1.42 we accepted the Respondent is an
experienced county councillor and that he works hard on behalf of his constituents.
There was no suggestion that any of his actions were motivated by financial gain.
The Respondent described himself as a 24/7 councillor who devoted almost his
entire working day to council business, he had been described as one of the most
intelligent and experienced council members. These points were reiterated in the
submissions made by his Counsel. It was noted approximately 11 councillors across
the political divide confirmed our findings. In addition they confirmed the willingness
of the Respondent to assist and advise other councillors, reference was also made
to supporting evidence as to the Respondent’s character given by 9 current or past
officers. 2 constituents also gave evidence as to the Respondent’s good character.
Some of the withesses who have attended meetings over a significant period of time
with the Respondent had not witnessed bullying or disrespectful behaviour, though
stated the Respondent could ask challenging questions of officers and be forceful.

We heard from the Respondent’s partner, an experienced councillor in her
own right, who stated she had never seen any traits of bullying in the Respondent’s
character. The Respondent has not been the subject of any previous proceedings
before his authority’s standards committee, or been the subject of any previous
proceedings before the Adjudication Panel. It was submitted on his behalf that a
suspension of disqualification would result in severe financial hardship; he would
lose his allowance as a councillor. He had already, it was submitted, suffered
significant financial loss as he had stood down from being an executive member of
the council in March 2009 following the referral of the complaint to the Ombudsman.
His health, it was submitted, had also suffered. If he was suspended or disqualified
his electorate would be deprived of their chosen representative. He had been re-
elected as a councillor for his ward in May 2012, during a period of time when the

Page 32



Case Tribunal stood in abeyance as a result of the Respondent’s ill health and his
unfitness to attend to give evidence. At the time of considering sanction the
Respondent’s position is that he has been re-elected as a county councillor. We
were referred by Counsel for the Ombudsman to two cases, Sanders v Kingston
2005 case and Mullaney v The Adjudication Panel for England a 2009 case. We
were referred by Counsel for the Respondent to the section in the guidance
concerning the position of a re-elected councillor. We were not specifically drawn to
the cases by the Respondent, however we have given due consideration to both
cases and the guidance. There is a divergence of views between the decision of Mr.
Justice Wilkey as he then was in Sanders, who noted it was a very serious thing for
a non elected body such as the Case Tribunal to disqualify from membership of a
council a person who has been elected to that body by the electorate after the
events complained of. The view noted is that the matter complained of was by
inference considered by the electorate. In the case of Sanders the facts related to
comments made by the councillor surrounding one issue.

8. In the case of Mullaney in 2009, which is after Sanders, Mr. Justice Charles
noted in terms of the re-election of the councillor, “in my judgment this is irrelevant, it
cannot be known what effect if any the issues that are the subject of these
proceedings had on voters. Also the primary and secondary legislation relating to
the code envisages that the electorate might be deprived of the services of a
councillor they have chosen”. We were not addressed by counsel the respondent as
to the divergence of views of the High Court.

9. In our view the re-election of the Respondent is not wholly irrelevant, however
each case is fact sensitive. In this case we are dealing not with one issue but a
course of conduct over a 2 year period. The conduct which we have found to be
breaches included the bullying of officers and interference in the housing allocation
process. It is not known the extent to which the electorate would have been made
aware of the full ambit and nature of the complaints. We accept by inference there
would have been some local knowledge but as noted in Sanders it is not the case
that re-election of the councillor would never entitle the case tribunal to disqualify. In
the words of counsel for the Ombudsman re-election does not provide a councillor
with absolution for any past mis-deeds.

10. We cannot ignore the fact that some of the breaches we have found arise out
of the Respondent’s attempt to drive a cart and horses through the housing
allocation policy in an attempt to favour constituents in his ward. Further we cannot
ignore the manner in which the Respondent has conducted these proceedings; we
acknowledge some delay caused by the finalisation of the Ombudsman’s report and
by need for the Respondent to have time to consider further documentation.
However the number and frequency of his applications, his insistence as to the
number of withesses he required to attend, his refusal to accept obvious facts in the
face of clear and contemporaneous documentary evidence to the contrary and his
wish to challenge every point whether central or peripheral to the facts in hand; all of
this considerably extended the sitting time of the Case Tribunal.

11.  Notwithstanding these points, we reached a point when the Respondent was

due to give evidence in September 2011 and the case was due to be completed in
Autumn 2011. The Case Tribunal was unable to sit between September 2011 and

Page 33



September 2012 for this purpose on the basis of the Respondent being unfit to
attend to give evidence for medical reasons. We know not the effect that the
adjournment of the Case Tribunal proceedings for the 8 month period leading up to
the election of May 2012 would have had on the electorate. It should be noted
according to the medical report that during this period of time the Respondent was
continuing to conduct council business. He was re-elected during a period of time
when he was unfit to attend the Case Tribunal to give evidence. These are facts we
cannot ignore in balancing Sanders and Mullaney.

12.  We find that considering all of these factors this is a case where we are not
de-barred from considering a disqualification notwithstanding the Respondent’s re-
election. The options we have in terms of sanction are firstly to take no action at all;
secondly suspension or partial suspension; thirdly disqualification. Counsel for the
Respondent did however in his submission on sanction urge us not to apply any of
the sanctions provided by statute but to recommend a commendation to the
Respondent for all of his hard work on behalf of his constituents.

13.  We noted in our Findings of Fact that we found the Respondent had over the
years worked hard on behalf of his constituents. The breaches we have found
however are extremely serious breaches. The suggestion of a commendation or
indeed in the words of his Counsel that “we call it honours even”, which we interpret
as being no action, reinforce our view that the Respondent continues to display a
total lack of insight into the seriousness of his conduct and its effect on individuals
and the good management of the council.

14.  Our guidelines indicate suspension is appropriate where the circumstances
are not so serious as to merit disqualification, but sufficiently grave to give rise to the
need to reassure the public and impress upon the Respondent the severity of the
matter and the need to avoid repetition.

15.  We take into account that prior to 2007 no complaints of alleged breaches of
the code of conduct had been made and there have been no fresh allegations since
February 2009. However we have to balance this with the extent of the damage to
the Authority, the number of breaches, their seriousness and the effect upon
individuals within the Authority. In our view these factors make this a case where
disqualification as opposed to suspension has to be considered.

16.  Disqualification is the most severe of the sanctions available. The threshold
for disqualification is a high one, our procedural guidelines set out a number of
factors one or more of which may lead to disqualification. The relevant ones to
consider in terms of our findings in the relevant paragraphs are b,c,d,e and g.

17.  Paragraph b is where a Respondent has deliberately sought to misuse his
position in order to advantage some other person. Paragraph c is where the
respondent has deliberately failed to abide by the code of conduct (an example given
is where there is a protest against legislation of which the code forms part). It is
noted members of relevant authorities are expected to uphold the law. Paragraph d
is repeated breaches of the code of conduct by a respondent. Paragraph e is
misusing power within the authority and of public resources for political gain
Paragraph g is bringing the authority seriously into disrepute.

Page 34



18.  To assist councillors the Adjudication Panel for Wales has published an
appendix to the sanctions guidelines which set out possible relevant factors that may
need to be taken into account in determining appropriate sanction.

19.  The relevant mitigating factors noted in the guidelines are firstly an honestly
held although mistaken view that the action concerned did not constitute a failure to
follow the provisions of the code of conduct particularly where such a view has been
formed after taking appropriate advice. We do not believe this applies in this case,
the Respondent on a number of occasions was warned as to his conduct, for
example in terms of criticism of Susan Lewis by the Chief Executive in March 2008,
see paragraph 5.2 of our findings; in terms of his role in housing allocations in a
letter 14 December 2006 see paragraph 2.6 of our findings. A second factor in
considering mitigation is substantiated evidence that the member’s actions have
been affected by ill health. This does not apply in this case, no health problems at
the times the breaches occurred were identified to us. Thirdly, previous record of
good service, this is applicable to the Respondent with almost 30 years public
service. Fourthly short length of service or inexperience in a particular role, that is
not applicable in this case. Fifthly recognition by the member that there has been a
failure to follow the code, cooperation in rectifying the effects of that failure, an
apology to affected persons where that is appropriate, self reporting of a breach by
the member. This factor is not applicable in this case. Sixthly cooperation with the
investigating officer and standards committee and Adjudication Panel. The
Respondent has engaged in terms of these proceedings. Seventhly compliance with
the code since the events giving rise to the adjudication. This is applicable in this
case with no breaches for a significant period of time since February 2009 to current
date. Eighthly, actions which may have involved a breach of the code but which had
some beneficial effects for the public interest. In our findings this is not applicable.
Ninthly, provocation and tenthly heat of the moment such as a debate in council
chamber, neither of those we believe are applicable.

20. Interms of the aggravating factors, firstly is deliberate personal or political
gain for the member or others at public expense by exploiting the position as a
member. We do not believe in accordance with our findings that there was any
attempt by the Respondent to obtain personal financial gain, however there was in
our view an attempt to obtain political gain. In terms of the mutual exchange he was
seeking to curry favour with electors and contrary to the Authority’s express decision
was seeking to countermand the Authority’s decision in favour of his constituents. In
terms of the homelessness prevention interview he was seeking to circumvent
procedure and influencing an officer by his failure to show respect in order to benefit
a constituent. In terms of the 18 December 2008 he was seeking, by failing to show
respect, to direct an officer to allocate properties contrary to the council policy in
favour of constituents within his ward. Benefitting constituents could be said to be
seeking political gain. The second factor is repeated breaches. There have been 14
breaches of the code of conduct over a 2 year period involving 9 different sets of
circumstances. Thirdly, misusing powers or using public funds for political gain, this
relates to point 1 in terms of aggravating features. Fourthly, actions which brought
the council or public service into disrepute. We have found in terms of the mutual
exchange that the Respondent’s course of conduct brought his office and/or the
Authority into disrepute. This was serious in that over an extended period of time he

5

Page 35



made serious misrepresentations to a number of people and encouraged members
of the public, namely council tenants, to act to their potential detriment. Dishonesty
is the next factor, this is not in our view relevant though we note there were a
number of misleading comments in terms of some of the breaches. Sixthly an
intentional breach of the code; we concluded in respect of all breaches that the
conduct of the Respondent was intentional. Seventhly, continuing to deny the facts
despite clear contrary evidence, challenging the investigation and the adjudication to
the end. In our findings we know of no clearer example of this factor being
applicable. Not only is this true in terms of the Respondent’s conduct before the
Case Tribunal, but also during the course of the Ombudsman’s investigation and
also at the time in terms of his response to the most senior officers of the Authority.
Eighthly, seeking unfairly to blame other people. Whilst he was has not sought to
transfer responsibility for his conduct to others he has however persistently accused
a number of officers, at least 6, of deliberately lying and of creating false
documentation. We cannot ignore the effect of this on those officers. Ninthly,
persisting with the pattern of behaviour that involves repeated failure to abide by the
provisions of the code. Tenthly, is failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings of
previous findings of a failure to follow the provisions of the code. Looking at those
together there is no evidence of any previous failures to follow the provisions of the
code. Nine and ten however are applicable as we have outlined in our findings. The
number of different incidents are numerous and there are repeated breaches over a
2 year period and a failure to adhere to words of caution given to him. Itis a serious
failure on behalf of the Respondent to appreciate the adverse effect his conduct was
having on individuals and the good management of the Authority. The lack of insight
into the adverse effect of his conduct appears to continue. We cannot but come to
the finding that the Respondent believed in particular after the election of May 2008
that he was all powerful within the Authority to the extent that he felt he could behave
as he wished in terms of officers. In our findings he was guilty of bullying 3 officers of
the Authority. Susan Lewis was a director. We are in no doubt his conduct
contributed significantly to her decision to seek early retirement. Two other junior
officers suffered as a result of his bullying. In terms of approximately nine officers he
on various occasions failed to show respect which again had an adverse effect. His
involvement in housing matters went far beyond his remit as a councillor. He had
been specifically warned as to the limit of his role but notwithstanding this he sought
to influence officers to act contrary to the approved policy of the Authority in housing
matters. Had officers so acted it would have had serious consequences.

21. In addition to all the factors in our guidelines we have regard to all the
circumstances of the case. We have taken into account all of the positive
testimonies given in terms of the Respondent from a cross range of councillors,
officers and constituents. All noted the Respondent was an experienced councillor
and extremely knowledgeable. These are factors however which would have given
the respondent a greater insight into his conduct. The code of conduct exists to
uphold standards in political life, the Respondent’s conduct has seriously
undermined those standards and public confidence. We therefore come to the
conclusion that the high threshold required for disqualification for all the reasons
given in our Findings of Fact has been crossed. A cumulative effect of the breaches
could be said to have also brought the office of member or the Authority into
disrepute.

Page 36



22.  We have had careful regard for the length of such a disqualification and the
effect upon the Respondent and others. This is a case where based on the
aggravating features the length of disqualification should be to the upper end of our
maximum power of 5 years. Though we were not specifically addressed on the point
by Counsel for either the Respondent or Ombudsman, we note as legislation
currently exists the next local elections in Wales are due in 2016. Whilst in general
terms such a fact is not highly relevant, our guidelines note there may be occasions
when the timing of a Case Tribunal and the time when a disqualification might expire
will result in the penalty having a disproportionate effect. Any disqualification beyond
May 2016 could result in reality in the Respondent being disqualified for an additional
S years, which in our view would be disproportionate.

23.  Balancing all of the factors, including the Respondent’s length of service, the
age of the incidents and the fact of the Respondent’s re-election we come to the
conclusion that the appropriate length of disqualification is 2% years.

24. In Counsel's address on sanction on behalf of the Respondent it was
submitted that in some way we should delay the giving of our notice. We were not
directed to any specific statutory provision within our powers which allow us to delay
the giving of notice, or indeed to delay the commencement of any period of
disqualification. We do not believe we have such a power. In any event it is not
appropriate given the circumstances of the case and the seriousness of the
breaches to delay the commencement of the period of disqualification.

25.  Our finding by unanimous decision is that Clir Heesom should be disqualified
for 2 years and 6 months from being or becoming a member of Flintshire County
Council or any other relevant authority within the meaning of the Local Government
Act 2000 with effect from 19 July 2013.

Page 37



Page 38



6€ abed

FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL — STANDARDS COMMITTEE — FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

Date of Meeting

Topic

Notes/Decision/Action

June/July 2014 e Review of effectiveness and operation of Local
Resolution Procedure
2014 e Retirement from Committee Independent Member — Mrs P Jones (July)
Nov 2013 e Retirement from Committee C Bretherton-Watt (Nov)
Mr Molyneux (new Standards member) attending briefing with
MO/Deputy MO 5.15pm 2/12/13
14 Oct 2013 e Date of meeting changed from 7 to 14 October. 6pm Committee — 6.30pm joint meeting with Town and Community
Councils. Venue - Connah’s Quay Town Council.
2 Sept 2013 e Training Session Dual roles of County and Community/Town Councillors (HMcG)
e Declaration of Interests 13 May meeting - item on Declarations of Interest be added to the
FWP for consideration by the Committee in Sept
o Requests for dispensation
8 July 2013 e Training Session

e Declaration of Interests
o Requests for dispensation

e FEthical Advice on Collaboration

None
None

Protocol on how ethical advice would be given in respect of
collaboration between authorities — proposal approved.

9 wa)| epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Dispensations
	5 Result of Case Tribunal
	Appendix 1 - Notice of Decision
	Appendix 3 - Findings on Breach
	Appendix 4 - Findings on Sanction

	6 Forward Work Programme

